








plicable) may offer a consent to be sanctioned under
§10.50.

(2) Discretion, acceptance or declination. The
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility
may, in his or her discretion, accept or decline the
offer described in paragraph (b)(1) of this section. In
any declination, the Director of the Office of Profes-
sional Responsibility may state that he or she would
accept the offer described in paragraph (b)(1) of this
section if it contained different terms. The Director
of the Office of Professional Responsibility may, in
his or her discretion, accept or reject a revised offer
submitted in response to the declination or may coun-
teroffer and act upon any accepted counteroffer.

(c) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable on September 26, 2007.

§ 10.62 Contents of complaint.

(@) Charges. A complaint must name the respon-
dent, provide a clear and concise description of the
facts and law that constitute the basis for the proceed-
ing, and be signed by the Director of Office of Pro-
fessional Responsibility or a person representing the
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibil-
ity under §10.69(a)(1). A complaint is sufficient if it
fairly informs the respondent of the charges brought
so that the respondent is able to prepare a defense.

(b) Specification of sanction. The complaint must
specify the sanction sought by the Director of the Of-
fice of Professional Responsibility against the practi-
tioner or appraiser. If the sanction sought is a suspen-
sion, the duration of the suspension sought must be
specified.

(¢) Demand for answer. The Director of the Office
of Professional Responsibility must, in the complaint
or in a separate paper attached to the complaint, no-
tify the respondent of the time for answering the
complaint, which may not be less than 30 days from
the date of service of the complaint, the name and
address of the Administrative Law Judge with whom
the answer must be filed, the name and address of
the person representing the Director of the Office of
Professional Responsibility to whom a copy of the
answer must be served, and that a decision by default

may be rendered against the respondent in the event
an answer is not filed as required.

(d) Effective/ applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable to complaints brought on or after September
26, 2007.

§ 10.63 Service of complaint; service of other
papers;serviceofevidencein supportofcomplaint;
filing of papers.

(@) Service of complaint.

(1) In general. The complaint or a copy of the
complaint must be served on the respondent by any
manner described in paragraphs (a) (2) or (3) of this
section.

(2) Service by certified or first class mail.

(1) Service of the complaint may be made on
the respondent by mailing the complaint by certified
mail to the last known address (as determined un-
der section 6212 of the Internal Revenue Code and
the regulations thereunder) of the respondent. Where
service is by certified mail, the returned post office
receipt duly signed by the respondent will be proof
of service.

(i1) If the certified mail is not claimed or ac-
cepted by the respondent, or is returned undelivered,
service may be made on the respondent, by mailing
the complaint to the respondent by first class mail.
Service by this method will be considered complete
upon mailing, provided the complaint is addressed
to the respondent at the respondent’s last known ad-
dress as determined under section 6212 of the Inter-
nal Revenue Code and the regulations thereunder.

(3) Service by other than certified or first class
mail.

(1) Service of the complaint may be made on
the respondent by delivery by a private delivery ser-
vice designated pursuant to section 7502(f) of the In-
ternal Revenue Code to the last known address (as
determined under section 6212 of the Internal Rev-
enue Code and the regulations there under) of the re-
spondent. Service by this method will be considered
complete, provided the complaint is addressed to the
respondent at the respondent’s last known address as
determined under section 6212 of the Internal Rev-
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enue Code and the regulations thereunder.

(i1) Service of the complaint may be made in
person on, or by leaving the complaint at the office
or place of business of, the respondent. Service by
this method will be considered complete and proof of
service will be a written statement, sworn or affirmed
by the person who served the complaint, identifying
the manner of service, including the recipient, rela-
tionship of recipient to respondent, place, date and
time of service.

(i11) Service may be made by any other means
agreed to by the respondent. Proof of service will be
a written statement, sworn or affirmed by the person
who served the complaint, identifying the manner of
service, including the recipient, relationship of recip-
ient to respondent, place, date and time of service.

(4) For purposes of this section, respondent
means the practitioner, employer, firm or other en-
tity, or appraiser named in the complaint or any other
person having the authority to accept mail on behalf
of the practitioner, employer, firm or other entity or
appraiser.

(b) Service of papers other than complaint. Any pa-
per other than the complaint may be served on the
respondent, or his or her authorized representative
under §10.69(a)(2) by:

(1) mailing the paper by first class mail to the last
known address (as determined under section 6212 of
the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations there-
under) of the respondent or the respondent’s autho-
rized representative,

(2) delivery by a private delivery service desig-
nated pursuant to section 7502(f) of the Internal Rev-
enue Code to the last known address (as determined
under section 6212 of the Internal Revenue Code and
the regulations thereunder) of the respondent or the
respondent’s authorized representative, or

(3) as provided in paragraphs (a)(3)(ii) and
(@)(3)(iii) of this section.

(c) Service of papers on the Director of the Office
of Professional Responsibility. Whenever a paper is
required or permitted to be served on the Director
of the Office of Professional Responsibility in con-
nection with a proceeding under this part, the paper
will be served on the Director of the Office of Pro-
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fessional Responsibility’s authorized representative
under §10.69(a)(1) at the address designated in the
complaint, or at an address provided in a notice of
appearance. If no address is designated in the com-
plaint or provided in a notice of appearance, service
will be made on the Director of the Office of Profes-
sional Responsibility, Internal Revenue Service, 1111
Constitution Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20224.

(d) Service of evidence in support of complaint.
Within 10 days of serving the complaint, copies of
the evidence in support of the complaint must be
served on the respondent in any manner described in
paragraphs (a)(2) and (3) of this section.

(e) Filing of papers. Whenever the filing of a paper
is required or permitted in connection with a proceed-
ing under this part, the original paper, plus one ad-
ditional copy, must be filed with the Administrative
Law Judge at the address specified in the complaint
or at an address otherwise specified by the Admin-
istrative Law Judge. All papers filed in connection
with a proceeding under this part must be served on
the other party, unless the Administrative Law Judge
directs otherwise. A certificate evidencing such must
be attached to the original paper filed with the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge.

(F) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable to complaints brought on or after September
26, 2007.

§ 10.64 Answer; default.

(a) Filing. The respondent’s answer must be filed
with the Administrative Law Judge, and served on
the Director of the Office of Professional Responsi-
bility, within the time specified in the complaint un-
less, on request or application of the respondent, the
time is extended by the Administrative Law Judge.

(b) Contents. The answer must be written and con-
tain a statement of facts that constitute the respon-
dent’s grounds of defense. General denials are not
permitted. The respondent must specifically admit or
deny each allegation set forth in the complaint, ex-
cept that the respondent may state that the respondent
is without sufficient information to admit or deny a
specific allegation. The respondent, nevertheless,
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may not deny a material allegation in the complaint
that the respondent knows to be true, or state that the
respondent is without sufficient information to form
a belief, when the respondent possesses the required
information. The respondent also must state affirma-
tively any special matters of defense on which he or
she relies.

(c) Failure to deny or answer allegations in the
complaint. Every allegation in the complaint that is
not denied in the answer is deemed admitted and will
be considered proved; no further evidence in respect
of such allegation need be adduced at a hearing.

(d) Default. Failure to file an answer within the time
prescribed (or within the time for answer as extend-
ed by the Administrative Law Judge), constitutes an
admission of the allegations of the complaint and a
waiver of hearing, and the Administrative Law Judge
may make the decision by default without a hearing
or further procedure. A decision by default consti-
tutes a decision under §10.76.

(e) Signature. The answer must be signed by the re-
spondent or the respondent’s authorized representa-
tive under §10.69(a)(2) and must include a statement
directly above the signature acknowledging that the
statements made in the answer are true and correct
and that knowing and willful false statements may be
punishable under 18 U.S.C. §1001.

§ 10.65 Supplemental charges.

(@) In general. The Director of the Office of Profes-
sional Responsibility may file supplemental charges,
by amending the complaint with the permission of
the Administrative Law Judge, against the respon-
dent, if, for example —

(1) It appears that the respondent, in the answer,
falsely and in bad faith, denies a material allegation
of fact in the complaint or states that the respondent
has insufficient knowledge to form a belief, when the
respondent possesses such information; or

(2) It appears that the respondent has know-
ingly introduced false testimony during proceedings
against the respondent.

(b) Hearing. The supplemental charges may be
heard with other charges in the case, provided the re-

spondent is given due notice of the charges and is af-
forded a reasonable opportunity to prepare a defense
to the supplemental charges.

(c) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable on September 26, 2007.

§ 10.66 Reply to answer.

The Director of the Office of Professional Respon-
sibility may file a reply to the respondent’s answer,
but unless otherwise ordered by the Administrative
Law Judge, no reply to the respondent’s answer is
required. If a reply is not filed, new matter in the an-
swer is deemed denied.

§ 10.67 Proof; variance; amendment of pleadings.

In the case of a variance between the allegations in
pleadings and the evidence adduced in support of the
pleadings, the Administrative Law Judge, at any time
before decision, may order or authorize amendment
of the pleadings to conform to the evidence. The par-
ty who would otherwise be prejudiced by the amend-
ment must be given a reasonable opportunity to ad-
dress the allegations of the pleadings as amended and
the Administrative Law Judge must make findings on
any issue presented by the pleadings as amended.

§ 10.68 Motions and requests.

(a) Motions —

(1) In general. At any time after the filing of the
complaint, any party may file a motion with the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge. Unless otherwise ordered
by the Administrative Law Judge, motions must be
in writing and must be served on the opposing party
as provided in §10.63(b). A motion must concisely
specify its grounds and the relief sought, and, if ap-
propriate, must contain a memorandum of facts and
law in support.

(2) Summary adjudication. Either party may
move for a summary adjudication upon all or any part
of the legal issues in controversy. If the non-moving
party opposes summary adjudication in the moving
party’s favor, the non-moving party must file a writ-
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ten response within 30 days unless ordered otherwise
by the Administrative Law Judge.

(3) Good Faith. A party filing a motion for exten-
sion of time, a motion for postponement of a hear-
ing, or any other non-dispositive or procedural mo-
tion must first contact the other party to determine
whether there is any objection to the motion, and
must state in the motion whether the other party has
an objection.

(b) Response. Unless otherwise ordered by the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge, the nonmoving party is not
required to file a response to a motion. If the Admin-
istrative Law Judge does not order the nonmoving
party to file a response, and the nonmoving party
files no response, the nonmoving party is deemed to
oppose the motion. If a nonmoving party does not
respond within 30 days of the filing of a motion for
decision by default for failure to file a timely answer
or for failure to prosecute, the nonmoving party is
deemed not to oppose the motion.

(c) Oral motions, oral argument —

(1) The Administrative Law Judge may, for good
cause and with notice to the parties, permit oral mo-
tions and oral opposition to motions.

(2) The Administrative Law Judge may, within
his or her discretion, permit oral argument on any
motion.

(d) Orders. The Administrative Law Judge should
issue written orders disposing of any motion or re-
quest and any response thereto.

(e) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable on September 26, 2007.

§ 10.69 Representation; ex parte communication.

(a) Representation.

(1) The Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility may be represented in proceedings
under this part by an attorney or other employee of
the Internal Revenue Service. An attorney or an em-
ployee of the Internal Revenue Service representing
the Director of the Office of Professional Responsi-
bility in a proceeding under this part may sign the
complaint or any document required to be filed in the
proceeding on behalf of the Director of the Office of
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Professional Responsibility.

(2) A respondent may appear in person, be repre-
sented by a practitioner, or be represented by an at-
torney who has not filed a declaration with the Inter-
nal Revenue Service pursuant to §10.3. A practitioner
or an attorney representing a respondent or proposed
respondent may sign the answer or any document re-
quired to be filed in the proceeding on behalf of the
respondent.

(b) Ex parte communication.
The Director of the Office of Professional Respon-
sibility, the respondent, and any representatives of
either party, may not attempt to initiate or participate
in ex parte discussions concerning a proceeding or
potential proceeding with the Administrative Law
Judge (or any person who is likely to advise the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge on a ruling or decision) in
the proceeding before or during the pendency of the
proceeding. Any memorandum, letter or other com-
munication concerning the merits of the proceeding,
addressed to the Administrative Law Judge, by or on
behalf of any party shall be regarded as an argument
in the proceeding and shall be served on the other

party.
§ 10.70 Administrative Law Judge.

(a) Appointment. Proceedings on complaints for the
sanction (as described in §10.50) of a practitioner,
employer, firm or other entity, or appraiser will be
conducted by an Administrative Law Judge appoint-
ed as provided by 5 U.S.C. 3105.

(b) Powers of the Administrative Law Judge. The
Administrative Law Judge, among other powers, has
the authority, in connection with any proceeding un-
der §10.60 assigned or referred to him or her, to do
the following:

(1) Administer oaths and affirmations;

(2) Make rulings on motions and requests, which
rulings may not be appealed prior to the close of a
hearing except in extraordinary circumstances and at
the discretion of the Administrative Law Judge;

(3) Determine the time and place of hearing and
regulate its course and conduct;

(4) Adopt rules of procedure and modify the same
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from time to time as needed for the orderly disposi-
tion of proceedings;

(5) Rule on offers of proof, receive relevant evi-
dence, and examine witnesses;

(6) Take or authorize the taking of depositions or
answers to requests for admission;

(7) Receive and consider oral or written argu-
ment on facts or law;

(8) Hold or provide for the holding of conferenc-
es for the settlement or simplification of the issues
with the consent of the parties;

(9) Perform such acts and take such measures as
are necessary or appropriate to the efficient conduct
of any proceeding; and

(10) Make decisions.

(c) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable on September 26, 2007.

§ 10.71 Discovery.

(@) In general. Discovery may be permitted, at the
discretion of the Administrative Law Judge, only upon
written motion demonstrating the relevance, materi-
ality and reasonableness of the requested discovery
and subject to the requirements of §10.72(d)(2) and
(3). Within 10 days of receipt of the answer, the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge will notify the parties of the
right to request discovery and the timeframe for fil-
ing a request. A request for discovery, and objections,
must be filed in accordance with §10.68. In response
to a request for discovery, the Administrative Law
Judge may order —

(1) Depositions upon oral examination; or

(2) Answers to requests for admission.

(b) Depositions upon oral examination —

(1) A deposition must be taken before an officer
duly authorized to administer an oath for general pur-
poses or before an officer or employee of the Internal
Revenue Service who is authorized to administer an
oath in Federal tax law matters.

(2) In ordering a deposition, the Administrative
Law Judge will require reasonable notice to the op-
posing party as to the time and place of the deposition.
The opposing party, if attending, will be provided the
opportunity for full examination and cross-examina-

tion of any witness.

(3) Expenses in the reporting of depositions shall
be borne by the party at whose instance the deposi-
tion is taken. Travel expenses of the deponent shall
be borne by the party requesting the deposition, un-
less otherwise authorized by Federal law or regula-
tion.

() Requests for admission. Any party may serve
on any other party a written request for admission of
the truth of any matters which are not privileged and
are relevant to the subject matter of this proceeding.
Requests for admission shall not exceed a total of
30 (including any subparts within a specific request)
without the approval from the Administrative Law
Judge.

(d) Limitations. Discovery shall not be authorized
if —

(1) The request fails to meet any requirement set
forth in paragraph (a) of this section;

(2) 1t will unduly delay the proceeding;

(3) It will place an undue burden on the party re-
quired to produce the discovery sought;

(4) It is frivolous or abusive;

(5) It is cumulative or duplicative;

(6) The material sought is privileged or otherwise
protected from disclosure by law;

(7) The material sought relates to mental impres-
sions, conclusions, of legal theories of any party, at-
torney, or other representative, or a party prepared in
the anticipation of a proceeding; or

(8) The material sought is available generally to
the public, equally to the parties, or to the party seek-
ing the discovery through another source.

(€) Failure to comply. Where a party fails to comply
with an order of the Administrative Law Judge un-
der this section, the Administrative Law Judge may,
among other things, infer that the information would
be adverse to the party failing to provide it, exclude
the information from evidence or issue a decision by
default.

(f) Other discovery. No discovery other than that
specifically provided for in this section is permitted.

(9) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable to proceedings initiated on or after Septem-
ber 26, 2007.
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§ 10.72 Hearings.

(@) In general —

(1) Presiding officer An Administrative Law
Judge will preside at the hearing on a complaint filed
under §10.60 for the sanction of a practitioner, em-
ployer, firm or other entity, or appraiser.

(2) Time for hearing. Absent a determination by
the Administrative Law Judge that, in the interest of
justice, a hearing must be held at a later time, the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge should, on notice sufficient
to allow proper preparation, schedule the hearing to
occur no later than 180 days after the time for filing
the answer.

(3) Procedural requirements.

(1) Hearings will be stenographically recorded
and transcribed and the testimony of witnesses will
be taken under oath or affirmation.

(i1)) Hearings will be conducted pursuant to
5US.C. 556.

(iii) A hearing in a proceeding requested under
§10.82(g) will be conducted de novo.

(iv) An evidentiary hearing must be held in all
proceedings prior to the issuance of a decision by the
Administrative Law Judge unless —

(A) The Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility withdraws the complaint;

(B) A decision is issued by default pursuant to
§10.64(d);

(C) A decision is issued under §10.82 (e);

(D) The respondent requests a decision on the
written record without a hearing; or

(E) The Administrative Law Judge issues a
decision under §10.68(d) or rules on another motion
that disposes of the case prior to the hearing.

(b) Cross-examination. A party is entitled to pres-
ent his or her case or defense by oral or documentary
evidence, to submit rebuttal evidence, and to conduct
cross-examination, in the presence of the Adminis-
trative Law Judge, as may be required for a full and
true disclosure of the facts. This paragraph (b) does
not limit a party from presenting evidence contained
within a deposition when the Administrative Law
Judge determines that the deposition has been ob-
tained in compliance with the rules of this subpart D.
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(c) Prehearing memorandum. Unless otherwise or-
dered by the Administrative Law Judge, each party
shall file, and serve on the opposing party or the op-
posing party’s representative, prior to any hearing, a
prehearing memorandum containing —

(1) A list (together with a copy) of all proposed
exhibits to be used in the party’s case in chief;

(2) A list of proposed witnesses, including a syn-
opsis of their expected testimony, or a statement that
no witnesses will be called;

(3) Identification of any proposed expert witness-
es, including a synopsis of their expected testimony
and a copy of any report prepared by the expert or at
his or her direction; and

(4) Alist of undisputed facts.

(d) Publicity —

(1) In general. All reports and decisions of the
Secretary of the Treasury, or delegate, including any
reports and decisions of the Administrative Law
Judge, under this Subpart D are, subject to the pro-
tective measures in paragraph (d)(4) of this section,
public and open to inspection within 30 days after
the agency’s decision becomes final.

(2) Request for additional publicity. The Admin-
istrative Law Judge may grant a request by a practi-
tioner or appraiser that all the pleadings and evidence
of the disciplinary proceeding be made available for
inspection where the parties stipulate in advance to
adopt the protective measures in paragraph (d)(4) of
this section.

(3) Returns and return information —

(i) Disclosure to practitioner or appraiser. Pur-
suant to section 6103(1)(4) of the Internal Revenue
Code, the Secretary of the Treasury, or delegate, may
disclose returns and return information to any prac-
titioner or appraiser, or to the authorized represen-
tative of the practitioner or appraiser, whose rights
are or may be affected by an administrative action or
proceeding under this subpart D, but solely for use in
the action or proceeding and only to the extent that
the Secretary of the Treasury, or delegate, determines
that the returns or return information are or may be
relevant and material to the action or proceeding.

(if) Disclosure to officers and employees of
the Department of the Treasury. Pursuant to sec-
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tion 6103(1)(4)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code the
Secretary of the Treasury, or delegate, may disclose
returns and return information to officers and em-
ployees of the Department of the Treasury for use in
any action or proceeding under this subpart D, to the
extent necessary to advance or protect the interests of
the United States.

(iii) Use of returns and return information.
Recipients of returns and return information under
this paragraph (d)(3) may use the returns or return
information solely in the action or proceeding, or in
preparation for the action or proceeding, with respect
to which the disclosure was made.

(iv) Procedures for disclosure of returns and
return information. When providing returns or return
information to the practitioner or appraiser, or autho-
rized representative, the Secretary of the Treasury, or
delegate, will —

(A) Redact identifying information of any
third party taxpayers and replace it with a code;

(B) Provide a key to the coded information;
and

(C) Notify the practitioner or appraiser, or au-
thorized representative, of the restrictions on the use
and disclosure of the returns and return information,
the applicable damages remedy under section 7431
of the Internal Revenue Code, and that unauthorized
disclosure of information provided by the Internal
Revenue Service under this paragraph (d)(3) is also a
violation of this part.

(4) Protective measures —

(i) Mandatory protection order. If redaction of
names, addresses, and other identifying informa-
tion of third party taxpayers may still permit indirect
identification of any third party taxpayer, the Admin-
istrative Law Judge will issue a protective order to
ensure that the identifying information is available
to the parties and the Administrative Law Judge for
purposes of the proceeding, but is not disclosed to, or
open to inspection by, the public.

(i) Authorized orders.

(A) Upon motion by a party or any other af-
fected person, and for good cause shown, the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge may make any order which
justice requires to protect any person in the event

disclosure of information is prohibited by law, privi-
leged, confidential, or sensitive in some other way,
including, but not limited to, one or more of the fol-
lowing —

(1) That disclosure of information be made
only on specified terms and conditions, including a
designation of the time or place;

(2) That a trade secret or other information
not be disclosed, or be disclosed only in a designated
way.

(iii) Denials. If a motion for a protective order
is denied in whole or in part, the Administrative Law
Judge may, on such terms or conditions as the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge deems just, order any party
or person to comply with, or respond in accordance
with, the procedure involved.

(iv) Public inspection of documents. The Secre-
tary of the Treasury, or delegate, shall ensure that all
names, addresses or other identifying details of third
party taxpayers are redacted and replaced with the
code assigned to the corresponding taxpayer in all
documents prior to public inspection of such docu-
ments.

(e) Location. The location of the hearing will be
determined by the agreement of the parties with the
approval of the Administrative Law Judge, but, in the
absence of such agreement and approval, the hearing
will be held in Washington, D.C.

(F) Failure to appear. If either party to the proceed-
ing fails to appear at the hearing, after notice of the
proceeding has been sent to him or her, the party will
be deemed to have waived the right to a hearing and
the Administrative Law Judge may make his or her
decision against the absent party by default.

(9) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable on September 26, 2007.

§ 10.73 Evidence.

(@) In general. The rules of evidence prevailing in
courts of law and equity are not controlling in hear-
ings or proceedings conducted under this part. The
Administrative Law Judge may, however, exclude
evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly
repetitious.
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(b) Depositions. The deposition of any witness tak-
en pursuant to §10.71 may be admitted into evidence
in any proceeding instituted under §10.60.

(€) Requests for admission. Any matter admitted in
response to a request for admission under §10.71 is
conclusively established unless the Administrative
Law Judge on motion permits withdrawal or modi-
fication of the admission. Any admission made by a
party is for the purposes of the pending action only
and is not an admission by a party for any other pur-
pose, nor may it be used against a party in any other
proceeding.

(d) Proof of documents. Official documents, re-
cords, and papers of the Internal Revenue Service and
the Office of Professional Responsibility are admis-
sible in evidence without the production of an officer
or employee to authenticate them. Any documents,
records, and papers may be evidenced by a copy at-
tested to or identified by an officer or employee of
the Internal Revenue Service or the Treasury Depart-
ment, as the case may be.

(e) Withdrawal of exhibits. If any document, re-
cord, or other paper is introduced in evidence as an
exhibit, the Administrative Law Judge may authorize
the withdrawal of the exhibit subject to any condi-
tions that he or she deems proper.

(F) Objections. Objections to evidence are to be
made in short form, stating the grounds for the ob-
jection. Except as ordered by the Administrative Law
Judge, argument on objections will not be recorded
or transcribed. Rulings on objections are to be a part
of the record, but no exception to a ruling is neces-
sary to preserve the rights of the parties.

(9) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable on September 26, 2007.

§ 10.74 Transcript.

In cases where the hearing is stenographically report-
ed by a Government contract reporter, copies of the
transcript may be obtained from the reporter at rates
not to exceed the maximum rates fixed by contract
between the Government and the reporter. Where the
hearing is stenographically reported by a regular em-
ployee of the Internal Revenue Service, a copy will
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be supplied to the respondent either without charge
or upon the payment of a reasonable fee. Copies of
exhibits introduced at the hearing or at the taking of
depositions will be supplied to the parties upon the
payment of a reasonable fee (Sec. 501, Public Law
82-137)(65 Stat. 290)(31 U.S.C. § 483a).

§ 10.75 Proposed findings and conclusions.

Except in cases where the respondent has failed to
answer the complaint or where a party has failed to
appear at the hearing, the parties must be afforded a
reasonable opportunity to submit proposed findings
and conclusions and their supporting reasons to the
Administrative Law Judge.

§ 10.76 Decision of Administrative Law Judge.

(@) In general —

(1) Hearings. Within 180 days after the conclu-
sion of a hearing and the receipt of any proposed
findings and conclusions timely submitted by the
parties, the Administrative Law Judge should enter
a decision in the case. The decision must include a
statement of findings and conclusions, as well as the
reasons or basis for making such findings and con-
clusions, and an order of censure, suspension, dis-
barment, monetary penalty, disqualification, or dis-
missal of the complaint.

(2) Summary adjudication. In the event that a
motion for summary adjudication is filed, the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge should rule on the motion for
summary adjudication within 60 days after the party
in opposition files a written response, or if no writ-
ten response if filed, within 90 days after the motion
for summary adjudication is filed. A decision shall
thereafter be rendered if the pleadings, depositions,
admissions, and any other admissible evidence show
that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that
a decision may be rendered as a matter of law. The
decision must include a statement of conclusions, as
well as the reasons or basis for making such conclu-
sions, and an order of censure, suspension, disbar-
ment, monetary penalty, disqualification, or dismiss-
al of the complaint.
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(3) Returns and return information. In the deci-
sion, the Administrative Law Judge should use the
code assigned to third party taxpayers (described in
§10.72(d)).

(b) Standard of proof. If the sanction is censure or
a suspension of less than six months’ duration, the
Administrative Law Judge, in rendering findings and
conclusions, will consider an allegation of fact to be
proven if it is established by the party who is alleg-
ing the fact by a preponderance of the evidence in the
record. If the sanction is a monetary penalty, disbar-
ment or a suspension of six months or longer dura-
tion, an allegation of fact that is necessary for a find-
ing against the practitioner must be proven by clear
and convincing evidence in the record. An allegation
of fact that is necessary for a finding of disqualifica-
tion against an appraiser must be proved by clear and
convincing evidence in the record.

(c) Copy of decision. The Administrative Law
Judge will provide the decision to the Director of the
Office of Professional Responsibility, with a copy to
the Director’s authorized representative, and a copy
of the decision to the respondent or the respondent’s
authorized representative.

(d) When final. In the absence of an appeal to the
Secretary of the Treasury or delegate, the decision of
the Administrative Law Judge will, without further
proceedings, become the decision of the agency 30
days after the date of the Administrative Law Judge’s
decision.

(e) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable to proceedings initiated on or after Septem-
ber 26, 2007.

§ 10.77 Appeal of decision of Administrative Law
Judge.

(@) Appeal. Any party to the proceeding under this
subpart D may file an appeal of the decision of the
Administrative Law Judge with the Secretary of the
Treasury, or delegate. The appeal must include a brief
that states exceptions to the decision of the Admin-
istrative Law Judge and supporting reasons for such
exceptions.

(b) Time and place for filing of appeal. The ap-

peal and brief must be filed, in duplicate, with the
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility
within 30 days of the date that the decision of the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge is served on the parties. The
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility
will immediately furnish a copy of the appeal to the
Secretary of the Treasury or delegate who decides
appeals. A copy of the appeal for review must be sent
to any non-appealing party. If the Director of the Of-
fice of Professional Responsibility files an appeal, he
or she will provide a copy of the appeal and certify to
the respondent that the appeal has been filed.

(c) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable on September 26, 2007.

§ 10.78 Decision on review.

(a) Decision on review. On appeal from or review
of the decision of the Administrative Law Judge, the
Secretary of the Treasury, or delegate, will make the
agency decision. The Secretary of the Treasury, or
delegate, should make the agency decision within
180 days after receipt of the appeal

(b) Standard of review. The decision of the Admin-
istrative Law Judge will not be reversed unless the
appellant establishes that the decision is clearly er-
roneous in light of the evidence in the record and ap-
plicable law. Issues that are exclusively matters of
law will be reviewed de novo. In the event that the
Secretary of the Treasury, or delegate, determines
that there are unresolved issues raised by the record,
the case may be remanded to the Administrative Law
Judge to elicit additional testimony or evidence.

(c) Copy of decision on review. The Secretary of
the Treasury, or delegate, will provide copies of the
agency decision to the Director of the Office of Pro-
fessional Responsibility and the respondent or the
respondent’s authorized representative.

(d) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap-
plicable on September 26, 2007.
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§ 10.79 Effect of disbarment, suspension, or
censure.

(a) Disbarment. When the final decision in a case
is against the respondent (or the respondent has of-
fered his or her consent and such consent has been
accepted by the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility) and such decision is for disbarment,
the respondent will not be permitted to practice be-
fore the Internal Revenue Service unless and until
authorized to do so by the Director of the Office of
Professional Responsibility pursuant to §10.81.

(b) Suspension. When the final decision in a case
is against the respondent (or the respondent has of-
fered his or her consent and such consent has been
accepted by the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility) and such decision is for suspension,
the respondent will not be permitted to practice be-
fore the Internal Revenue Service during the period
of suspension. For periods after the suspension, the
practitioner’s future representations may be subject
to conditions as authorized by paragraph (d) of this
section.

(c) Censure. When the final decision in the case
is against the respondent (or the respondent has of-
fered his or her consent and such consent has been
accepted by the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility) and such decision is for censure, the
respondent will be permitted to practice before the
Internal Revenue Service, but the respondent’s future
representations may be subject to conditions as au-
thorized by paragraph (d) of this section.

(d) Conditions. After being subject to the sanction
of either suspension or censure, the future represen-
tations of a practitioner so sanctioned shall be sub-
ject to conditions prescribed by the Director of the
Office of Professional Responsibility designed to
promote high standards of conduct. These conditions
can be imposed for a reasonable period in light of
the gravity of the practitioner’s violations. For ex-
ample, where a practitioner is censured because he or
she failed to advise his or her clients about a poten-
tial conflict of interest or failed to obtain the clients’
written consents, the Director of the Office of Pro-
fessional Responsibility may require the practitioner
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to provide the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility or another Internal Revenue Service
official with a copy of all consents obtained by the
practitioner for an appropriate period following cen-
sure, whether or not such consents are specifically
requested.

§10.80 Notice of disbarment, suspension, censure,
or disqualification.

On the issuance of a final order censuring, suspend-
ing, or disbarring a practitioner or a final order dis-
qualifying an appraiser, the Director of the Office of
Professional Responsibility may give notice of the
censure, suspension, disbarment, or disqualification
to appropriate officers and employees of the Internal
Revenue Service and to interested departments and
agencies of the Federal government. The Director of
the Office of Professional Responsibility may deter-
mine the manner of giving notice to the proper au-
thorities of the State by which the censured, suspend-
ed, or disbarred person was licensed to practice.

§ 10.81 Petition for reinstatement.

The Director of the Office of Professional Responsi-
bility may entertain a petition for reinstatement from
any person disbarred from practice before the Inter-
nal Revenue Service or any disqualified appraiser
after the expiration of 5 years following such disbar-
ment or disqualification. Reinstatement may not be
granted unless the Director of the Office of Profes-
sional Responsibility is satisfied that the petitioner,
thereafter, is not likely to conduct himself contrary
to the regulations in this part, and that granting such
reinstatement would not be contrary to the public in-
terest.

§ 10.82 Expedited suspension.

(@) When applicable. Whenever the Director of the
Office of Professional Responsibility determines that
a practitioner is described in paragraph (b) of this
section, the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility may institute a proceeding under this
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section to suspend the practitioner from practice be-
fore the Internal Revenue Service.

(b) To whom applicable. This section applies to any
practitioner who, within 5 years of the date a com-
plaint instituting a proceeding under this section is
served:

(1) Has had a license to practice as an attorney,
certified public accountant, or actuary suspended or
revoked for cause (not including a failure to pay a
professional licensing fee) by any authority or court,
agency, body, or board described in §10.51(a)(10).

(2) Has, irrespective of whether an appeal has
been taken, been convicted of any crime under title
26 of the United States Code, any crime involving
dishonesty or breach of trust, or any felony for which
the conduct involved renders the practitioner unfit to
practice before the Internal Revenue Service.

(3) Has violated conditions imposed on the prac-
titioner pursuant to §10.79(d).

(4) Has been sanctioned by a court of competent
jurisdiction, whether in a civil or criminal proceed-
ing (including suits for injunctive relief), relating to
any taxpayer’s tax liability or relating to the practi-
tioner’s own tax liability, for —

(i) Instituting or maintaining proceedings pri-
marily for delay;

(if) Advancing frivolous or groundless argu-
ments; or

(111) Failing to pursue available administrative
remedies.

(c) Instituting a proceeding. A proceeding under
this section will be instituted by a complaint that
names the respondent, is signed by the Director of
the Office of Professional Responsibility or a person
representing the Director of the Office of Profession-
al Responsibility under §10.69(a)(1), is filed in the
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibil-
ity’s office, and is served according to the rules set
forth in paragraph (a) of §10.63. The complaint must
give a plain and concise description of the allega-
tions that constitute the basis for the proceeding. The
complaint must notify the respondent —

(1) Of the place and due date for filing an an-
swer;

(2) That a decision by default may be rendered if

the respondent fails to file an answer as required;

(3) That the respondent may request a conference
with the Director of the Office of Professional Re-
sponsibility to address the merits of the complaint
and that any such request must be made in the an-
swer; and

(4) That the respondent may be suspended either
immediately following the expiration of the period
within which an answer must be filed or, if a confer-
ence is requested, immediately following the confer-
ence.

(d) Answer. The answer to a complaint described
in this section must be filed no later than 30 calen-
dar days following the date the complaint is served,
unless the Director of the Office of Professional Re-
sponsibility extends the time for filing. The answer
must be filed in accordance with the rules set forth
in §10.64, except as otherwise provided in this sec-
tion. A respondent is entitled to a conference with the
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility
only if the conference is requested in a timely filed
answer. If a request for a conference is not made in
the answer or the answer is not timely filed, the re-
spondent will be deemed to have waived his or her
right to a conference and the Director of the Office
of Professional Responsibility may suspend such re-
spondent at any time following the date on which the
answer was due.

(e) Conference. The Director of the Office of
Professional Responsibility or his or her designee
will preside at a conference described in this section.
The conference will be held at a place and time
selected by the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility, but no sooner than 14 calendar
days after the date by which the answer must be
filed with the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility, unless the respondent agrees to
an earlier date. An authorized representative may
represent the respondent at the conference. Following
the conference, upon a finding that the respondent is
described in paragraph (b) of this section, or upon the
respondent’s failure to appear at the conference either
personally orthroughan authorized representative, the
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility
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may immediately suspend the respondent from - Whese-effer-of-consent-toresign-from-en-
practice before the Internal Revenue Service. roellmenthas-beenaceepted-bythe Directorofthe OF
(F) Duration of suspension. A suspension under this fiee-of Professional-Responsibility-under$10-61;

section will commence on the date that written notice
of the suspension is issued. A practitioner’s suspen-
sion will remain effective until the earlier of the fol-

lowing —

(1) The Director of the Office of Professional 3 Disgualified-appratsers;and
Responsibility lifts the suspension after determining —EnroHed—retirementphn—asents—ehidine
that the practitioner is no longer described in para- divduals—
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and instituted under §10.60. Hi-WhoeseenroHmenthasbeenplacedtthae-

(9) Proceeding instituted under §10.60. If the tive-retirement-statusand
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility - Whese-effer-of-consent-toresign-from-en-

suspends a practitioner under this section, the rotmenthasbeenneceepted-bythe Phrectorotthe O+
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Professional Responsibility to issue a complaint under B)Y-Otherrecords—Other+records-of-the-Director-of
§10.60. The request must be made in writing within the-Offecof Protesstonal- Responsibthtymay bedis-
2 years from the date on which the practitioner’s elosed-upon-speeifierequest—inaceordanee-with-the
suspension commences. The Director of the Office of appheabletaw:

Professional Responsibility must issue a complaint E)Effectivetappticabitity-date—Fhis-sectionis—ap-
requested under this paragraph within 30 calendar pheable-on-September 26,2007

days of receiving the request.

(h) Effective/applicability date. This section is ap- SHEH—Savingprovision:
plicable on September 26, 2007.
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Subpart C — Sanctions for Violation of the
Regulations

§10.50 Sanctions.

(@) Authority to censure, suspend, or disbar. The
Secretary of the Treasury, or his or her delegate, after
notice and an opportunity for a proceeding, may cen-
sure, suspend or disbar any practitioner from practice
before the Internal Revenue Service if the practitioner
is shown to be incompetent or disreputable, fails to
comply with any regulation in this part, or with intent
to defraud, willfully and knowingly misleads or threat-
ens a client or prospective client. Censure is a public
reprimand.

(b) Authority to disqualify. The Secretary of the Trea-
sury, or his or her delegate, after due notice and oppor-
tunity for hearing, may disqualify any appraiser with
respect to whom a penalty has been assessed under
section 6701(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.

(1) If any appraiser is disqualified pursuant to this
subpart C, such appraiser is barred from presenting ev-
idence or testimony in any administrative proceeding
before the Department of Treasury or the Internal Rev-
enue Service, unless and until authorized to do so by
the Director of Practice pursuant to §10.81, regardless
of whether such evidence or testimony would pertain
to an appraisal made prior to or after such date.

(2) Any appraisal made by a disqualified appraiser
after the effective date of disqualification will not have
any probative effect in any administrative proceeding
before the Department of the Treasury or the Internal
Revenue Service. An appraisal otherwise barred from
admission into evidence pursuant to this section may
be admitted into evidence solely for the purpose of de-
termining the taxpayer’s reliance in good faith on such
appraisal.

§10.51 Incompetence and disreputable conduct.

Incompetence and disreputable conduct for which a
practitioner may be censured, suspended or disbarred
from practice before the Internal Revenue Service in-
cludes, but is not limited to —

(a) Conviction of any criminal offense under the rev-
enue laws of the United States;

(b) Conviction of any criminal offense involving dis-
honesty or breach of trust;

(c) Conviction of any felony under Federal or State
law for which the conduct involved renders the prac-
titioner unfit to practice before the Internal Revenue

Service;

(d) Giving false or misleading information, or partici-
pating in any way in the giving of false or misleading
information to the Department of the Treasury or any
officer or employee thereof, or to any tribunal autho-
rized to pass upon Federal tax matters, in connection
with any matter pending or likely to be pending before
them, knowing such information to be false or mis-
leading. Facts or other matters contained in testimony,
Federal tax returns, financial statements, applications
for enrollment, affidavits, declarations, or any other
document or statement, written or oral, are included in
the term information.

(e) Solicitation of employment as prohibited under
810.30, the use of false or misleading representations
with intent to deceive a client or prospective client in
order to procure employment, or intimating that the
practitioner is able improperly to obtain special con-
sideration or action from the Internal Revenue Service
or officer or employee thereof.

(f) Willfully failing to make a Federal tax return in
violation of the revenue laws of the United States,
willfully evading, attempting to evade, or participating
in any way in evading or attempting to evade any as-
sessment or payment of any Federal tax, or knowingly
counseling or suggesting to a client or prospective cli-
ent an illegal plan to evade Federal taxes or payment
thereof.

(g) Misappropriation of, or failure properly and
promptly to remit funds received from a client for the
purpose of payment of taxes or other obligations due
the United States.

(h) Directly or indirectly attempting to influence, or
offering or agreeing to attempt to influence, the official
action of any officer or employee of the Internal Rev-
enue Service by the use of threats, false accusations,
duress or coercion, by the offer of any special induce-
ment or promise of advantage or by the bestowing of
any gift, favor or thing of value.

(1) Disbarment or suspension from practice as an at-
torney, certified public accountant, public accountant,
or actuary by any duly constituted authority of any
State, territory, possession of the United States, includ-
ing a Commonwealth, or the District of Columbia, any
Federal court of record or any Federal agency, body or
board.

(j) Knowingly aiding and abetting another person to
practice before the Internal Revenue Service during a
period of suspension, disbarment, or ineligibility of
such other person.

(k) Contemptuous conduct in connection with prac-
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tice before the Internal Revenue Service, including the
use of abusive language, making false accusations and
statements, knowing them to be false, or circulating or
publishing malicious or libelous matter.

() Giving a false opinion, knowingly, recklessly,
or through gross incompetence, including an opinion
which is intentionally or recklessly misleading, or en-
gaging in a pattern of providing incompetent opinions
on questions arising under the Federal tax laws. False
opinions described in this paragraph (1) include those
which reflect or result from a knowing misstatement of
fact or law, from an assertion of a position known to
be unwarranted under existing law, from counseling or
assisting in conduct known to be illegal or fraudulent,
from concealing matters required by law to be revealed,
or from consciously disregarding information indicat-
ing that material facts expressed in the tax opinion or
offering material are false or misleading. For purposes
of this paragraph (1), reckless conduct is a highly un-
reasonable omission or misrepresentation involving
an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary
care that a practitioner should observe under the cir-
cumstances. A pattern of conduct is a factor that will
be taken into account in determining whether a prac-
titioner acted knowingly, recklessly, or through gross
incompetence. Gross incompetence includes conduct
that reflects gross indifference, preparation which is
grossly inadequate under the circumstances, and a con-
sistent failure to perform obligations to the client.

§10.52 Violation of regulations.

A practitioner may be censured, suspended or disbarred
from practice before the Internal Revenue Service for
any of the following:

(a) Willfully violating any of the regulations con-
tained in this part.

(b) Recklessly or through gross incompetence (within
the meaning of 810.51(l)) violating §10.33 or 10.34.

§10.53 Receipt of information
practitioner (June 2005).

concerning

(@) Officer or employee of the Internal Revenue Ser-
vice. If an officer or employee of the Internal Revenue
Service has reason to believe that a practitioner has vi-
olated any provision of this part, the officer or employ-
ee will promptly make a written report to the Director
of Practice of the suspected violation. The report will
explain the facts and reasons upon which the officer’s
or employee’s belief rests.
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(b) Other persons. Any person other than an officer
or employee of the Internal Revenue Service having
information of a violation of any provision of this
part may make an oral or written report of the alleged
violation to the Director of Practice or any officer or
employee of the Internal Revenue Service. If the re-
port is made to an officer or employee of the Internal
Revenue Service, the officer or employee will make a
written report of the suspected violation to the Director
of Practice.

(¢) Destruction of report. No report made under para-
graph (a) or (b) of this section shall be maintained by
the Director of Practice unless retention of such record
is permissible under the applicable records control
schedule as approved by the National Archives and
Records Administration and designated in the Inter-
nal Revenue Manual. The Director of Practice must
destroy such reports as soon as permissible under the
applicable records control schedule.

(d) Effect on proceedings under subpart D. The de-
struction of any report will not bar any proceeding un-
der subpart D of this part, but precludes the Director of
Practice’s use of a copy of such report in a proceeding
under subpart D of this part.
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United States
Department of the Treasury

Director, Office of Professional Responsibility,
Complainant-Appellee

V. Complaint No. 2007-28

Juanita A. Gonzales,
Respondent-Appellant

Decision On Appeal

Authority

Under the Authority of General Counsel Order No. 9 (January 19, 2001)
and the authority vested in her as Acting General Counsel of the Treasury who
was the Acting Chief Counsel of the Internal Revenue Service, through a
delegation order dated June 26, 2009, Clarissa C. Potter delegated to the
undersigned the authority to decide disciplinary appeals to the Secretary of the
Treasury filed under Subpart D of Part 10 of Title 31, Code of Federal Regulation
31 C.F.R. Part 10, Practice Before the Internal Revenue Service (reprinted in and
hereinafter referred to as Treasury Department Circular No. 230). This is such
an Appeal from a Decision entered in this proceeding against Juanita A.
Gonzaleslby Administrative Law Judge Arthur J. Amchen (the ALJ) on August
29, 2008.

Background

This proceeding was commenced on May 22, 2007, when Attorney 1, an
attorney acting as the authorized representative of Michael R. Chesman, then the
Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility, filed a complaint against
Respondent-Appellant. The complaint alleges that Respondent-Appellant: (i) has
engaged in practice before the Internal Revenue Service, as defined by 31
C.F.R. 8 10.2(d) as an enrolled agent, (ii) had willfully failed to file Federal
income tax returns as required by 26 U.S.C. 88 6011, 6012, and 6072 for the
years 2001 and 2002, (iii) had willfully failed to timely file Federal income tax
returns as required by 26 U.S.C. 88 6011, 6012, and 6072 for the years 2003,

1 A copy of the ALJ’s Decision Granting Complaint's Motion For Summary Judgment appears as
Attachment 1.



2004, and 2005, (iv) that with respect to the year 2001 such willful failure
constituted disreputable conduct with the meaning of 31 C.F.R. § 10.51 generally
and a willful violation of § 10.51(d) (Rev. 1994) more particularly, and (v) that with
respect to the years 2002, 2003, 2004, and 2005 each such willful failure
constituted disreputable conduct within the meaning of 31 C.F.R. § 10.51
generally and a willful violation of§ 10.51(f) (Rev. 2002) more particularly. The
complaint recommends that Respondent-Appellant should receive as a sanction
for her conduct a forty-eight (48) month suspension from practice before the
Internal Revenue Service and further requiring that her suspension not be lifted
until Respondent-Appellant has filed all of her tax returns and paid all outstanding
Federal tax liabilities, or to have entered into an installment agreement or offer in
compromise which has been accepted by the Service and with which the
Respondent-Appellant has remained in compliance.

ALJ’s Decision and Complainant-Appellee’s Motion to Dismiss Appellant’s
Appeal

On August 29, 2008, Administrative Law Judge Arthur J. Amchan granted
Complainant-Appellee’s Motion for Summary judgment and suspended
Respondent-Appellant from practice before the Internal Revenue Service for
thirty-six (36) months. By letter dated September 4, 2008, the Office of
Professional Responsibility notified Respondent-Appellant that any appeal must
be postmarked no later than September 29, 2008.

By letter dated September 15, 2008, Respondent-Appellant requested copies of
decisions referenced in the Decision of the Administrative Law Judge and
required an extension of time to file an appeal from September 29, 2008 to a
date no sooner than thirty (30) days from when the requested decisions were
mailed. The requested decisions were mailed on September 26, 2008. By
memorandum dated October 8, 2008, the Appellate Authority granted
Respondent-Appellant an extension to November 10, 2008, to file an appeal.

Respondent-Appellant’s attorney indicates in the Opposition to Motion to Dismiss
Appeal of Juanita A. Gonzales to Order Granting Motion For Summary Judgment
that he called the attorney for Complainant-Appellee on November 12, 2008 and
informed her that he intended to file the appeal late. On November 14, 2008,
Respondent-Appellant’s attorney sent a letter to the Office of Professional
Responsibility indicating that he would be filing the appeal late. While
Respondent-Appellant’s attorney notified Complainant-Appellee that he would be
filing the appeal late, he did not request an additional extension of time past the
November 10, 2008 due date. No additional extension of time was granted.

On November 19, 2008, Respondent-Appellant served an appeal by FedEx
express overnight. On December 4, 2008, Complainant-Appellee served a
Motion to Dismiss Appellant’'s Appeal. By letter dated December 15, 2008,
Respondent-Appellant’s counsel requested an extension of time to file an



Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Appeal of Juanita A. Gonzales to Order Granting
Motion for Summary Judgment indicating that the Opposition would be filed that
day or the following day. An Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Appeal of Juanita
A. Gonzales to Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment was submitted by
letter dated December 21, 2008. By letter dated December 22, 2008,
Complainant-Appellee submitted a Response to Respondent-Appellant’s Appeal
since no decision had been issued in response to Complainant-Appellee’s Motion
to Dismiss the Appeal. By letter dated January 21, 2009, Respondent-Appellant
submitted a document captioned Reply of Juanita Gonzales to Complainant’s
Opposition to Gonzales Appeal. There is no provision in Circular 230 for filing
such Reply, nor did Respondent-Appellant request leave to file such Reply.

Respondent-Appellant argues that the letter dated September 15, 2008, sent to
the Office of Professional Responsibility, constituted a Notice of Appeal which
met the requirements of Circular 230 for filing a timely appeal. The September
15, 2008 letter was titled as a “Request for extension of time to appeal of Order
granting summary judgment.” Pursuant to 31 C.F.R. § 10.77(a) (Effective
September 26, 2007) “[tlhe appeal much include a brief that states exceptions to
the decision of the Administrative Law Judge and supporting reasons for such
exceptions.” Furthermore, 31 C.F.R. 8§ 10.77(b) states that “[tlhe appeal and
brief must be filed, in duplicate, with the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility within 30 days of the date that the decision of the Administrative
Law Judge is served on the parties.” The September 15, 2008 letter was not an
appeal, and no brief was attached to that letter, as required by 31 C.F.R. 8
10.77(a). The letter, as its title indicates, was a request for an extension of time
to file and appeal and a request for certain unpublished decisions. Therefore,
Respondent-Appellant's September 15" letter does not meet the requirements of
Circular 230 for timely filing an appeal.

Respondent-Appellant also argues alternatively that the untimely filing of the
appeal was excusable. Respondent-Appellant requested an additional 30 days
to file an appeal calculated from the date Respondent-Appellant was mailed
copies of requested unpublished decision. The requested decisions were mailed
on September 26, 2008. Therefore, based upon the request for an extension
Respondent-Appellant’s appeal would have been due on October 27, 2008%. An
extension was granted to file the appeal to November 10, 2008, two weeks
beyond the 30 days requested by Respondent-Appellant.

Respondent-Appellant’s attorney indicates that he was attending a Continuing
Legal Education program from November 9-14, 2008, and that he intended to
complete the Appeal during the evenings and mail it by the due date of
November 10, 2008. Respondent-Appellant’s attorney contends that he became
ill late during the evening of November 9, 2008, which prevented him from timely
filing the appeal. Respondent-Appellant’s attorney attached his attendance

2 October 26, 2008 was a Sunday. Regardless, Respondent-Appellant was granted a longer
extension to November 10, 2008.



record for the program as an exhibit to the December 21, 2008 opposition ot the
motion to dismiss. The attendance record demonstrates that Respondent-
Appellant’s attorney attended three (3) sessions on Sunday, November 9, 2008,
one (1) session, on November 10, 2008, one (1) session on November 11, 2008,
and one (1) session on November 14, 2008. Respondent-Appellant has not
established that the untimely filing of the appeal was excusable. Respondent-
Appellant was granted an extension of time substantially in excess of the time
requested. The Appeal in this case was inexcusably untimely, and therefore the
Appeal is dismissed.

Merits of the Action Taken by the Office of Professional Responsibility

The Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility filed a Complaint on May
22, 2007, seeking to suspend Respondent-Appellant Juanita A. Gonzales, an
enrolled agent, from practice before the IRS for a period of 48 months. The
complaint alleges that the Respondent-Appellant failed to file required returns for
tax years 2001 and 2002 and failed to timely file returns for tax years 2003, 2004,
and 2005.

In her answer to the Complaint, Respondent-Appellant asserts that all required
returns were filed, but that these returns were not filed until December, 2006.
Internal Revenue Service records were part of the record reviewed on appeal.
These records include Respondent-Appellant’s account information, updated in
January 2009. This account information indicates the following regarding
Respondent-Appellant’s 2001 through 2005 taxable years:?

Tax Year | Original Return Due Extended Return Date IRS Received
Date Due Date The Return
2001 April 15, 2002 October 15, 2002 June 12, 2007
2002 April 15, 2003 October 15, 2003 April 15, 2007
2003 April 15, 2004 October 15, 2004 July 12, 2006
2004 April 15, 2005 October 15, 2005 March 29, 2006
2005 April 15, 2006 October 15, 2006 December 22, 2006

The returns for 2001 and 2002 showed balances due. The returns for 2003,
2004, and 2005 showed overpayments due. All of the returns were filed after the
extended due dates as Respondent-Appellant admits. Furthermore, | note that
the returns for the taxable years 2001 through 2005 were all filed after
Respondent-Appellant was contacted by the Office of Professional
Responsibility.

® Pursuant to section 7503 of Title 26, if the due date for filing a return is a Saturday, Sunday, or a
legal holiday, the return is considered timely if filed on the next succeeding day which is not a
Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday. For purposes of this discussion, the due dated used are
listed without regard to section 7503. Any differences in due dates because of section 7503 have
no bearing on the result herein.



Section 10.51(f) of Treasury Circular 230* provides that incompetence and
disreputable conduct includes “[w]illfully failing to make a Federal tax return in
violation of the revenue laws of the United States . . . .” Pursuant to section
10.51 “a practitioner may be censured, suspended or disbarred from practice
before the Internal Revenue Service” for engaging in such misconduct. Section
10.52 of Treasury Circular 230 as in effect during the periods in issue provides
that “[a] practitioner may be censured, suspended or disbarred from practice
before the Internal Revenue Service” for “[w]illfully violating any of the regulations
contained in this part.” The Appellate Authority has held that repeated failure of a
practitioner to file his or her Federal income tax returns in a timely manner
constitutes a willful violation of sections 10.51(f) and 10.52. See Director, OPR v.
Martin M. Chandler, C.P.A., Complaint No. 2006-23 (Decision on Appeal, May
14, 2008) (In which the Appellate Authority increased the length of suspension
determined by the Administrative Law Judge). In the instant case the parties are
in agreement that the Respondent-Appellant did not file timely returns for the
2001 through 2005 taxable years.

Willfullness is not defined in Treasury Circular 230. The Appellate Authority
previously has applied the definition of willfulness used in criminal cases, in
particular Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S. 192 (1991) and United States v.
Pompino, 429 U.S. 10 (1976). | question whether the criminal standard is the
appropriate standard to apply in the context of a civil proceeding to determine
whether disciplinary action should be taken for professional misconduct. For
example, the California Supreme Court has determine that the term “willful”
under the Rules of Professional Conduct of the State Bar of California means
“simply a purpose or willingness to commit the act, or make the omission referred
to. It does not require any intent to violate law, or to injure another, or to acquire
any advantage.” Richards A. Phillips v. the State Bar of California, 782 P.2d 587,
591 (1989), (quoting Durbin v. State Bar, 590 P.2d 876 (1979)). Neither party
has briefed the issue regarding the proper definition of willfulness under Treasury
Circular 230. This is most likely because the Appellate Authority has previously
adopted the standards defined in Cheek and Pomponio. Therefore, for the
purposes of this case, | will apply the definition of willfulness as described in
Cheek and Pomponio. I invite the parties in future cases to brief what the
appropriate definition for willfulness should be under Treasury Circular 230.

As described in Cheek and Pomponio, willful means the voluntary, intentional
violation of a known duty. It does not require any showing of motive.
Respondent-Appellant contends that she was not willful because she did not
know that her failure to file was considered to be disreputable conduct. |
guestion whether she lacked such knowledge of her responsibilities under
Circular 230. Regardless, the legal duty Respondent-Appellant violated was not

* As in effect July 26, 2002. While the specific provision dealing with willfully failing to file an
income tax return under section 10.51 has changed designation, the language has not. For
example, in the 1994 version, this was designated section 10.51(d). For simplicity, | will refer to
this as section 10.51(f).



the consequences of her failure to file timely tax returns as described in Circular
230. Rather, it was her failure to file timely returns. As an enrolled agent,
Respondent-Appellant was aware of the deadlines imposed by the Internal
Revenue Code, and the legal obligation to file her returns timely. In fact, for each
of the years in issue, she requested extensions of the time to file those returns,
demonstrating she knew when her tax returns were due. Also, for five
consecutive years, she failed to file a Federal income tax return by the extended
due date.

Respondent-Appellant also argues that she was suffering from Diagnosis 1 that
made her unable to file her returns timely. In support of this assertion, she
submitted a statement from Ph.D. 1, on letterhead from an organization named
Organization 1, indicating that she “did not have the emotional reserves to file her
own taxes in a timely manner.” The statement indicates that Ph.D. 1 treated her
from March 2005 through May 2006, with a follow-up visit in June 2007. Other
than indicating that he is a Ph.D., the statement does not detail Ph.D. 1’s training,
in what areas he received his degrees, the nature of treatment he was providing,
or an explanation as to how he came to his conclusions. Respondent-Appellant
was given the opportunity to provide her testimony and Ph.D. 1’s testimony
regarding her treatment by means of a telephone conference call. The
Administrative law Judge also indicated that Ph.D. 1 would have to testify from
treatment records. During such call, counsel for Complainant-Appellee would
have had the opportunity to question Ph.D. 1 regarding his conclusions. The
parties did not have a conference call with the ALJ to discuss Ph.D. 1’s
treatment. Also, | note that the 2001, 2002 and 2003 tax returns were due before
Respondent-Appellant was Ph.D. 1's patient. The Administrative Law Judge
indicated that “he would not credit an unsupported opinion.” | concur that the
opinion of Ph.D. 1 is unsupported. Itis conclusory and of no value to
consideration of this disciplinary action.

Throughout the period of time when she failed to file her income tax returns
timely, Respondent-Appellant worked full time preparing returns for her clients
and representing them before the Internal Revenue Service. By her own
admission, no client was harmed by her alleged Diagnosis 1. | concur in the
finding of the Administrative Law Judge that Respondent-Appellant’s failure to
timely file returns was willful and constitutes a violation of Sections 10.51(f) and
10.52 of Treasury Circular 230.

Appropriate Sanction

Respondent-Appellant cites to two cases regarding disciplinary actions
considered against members of the New York State Bar, In The Matter of
Kenneth Everett, Esq., 243 A.D. 2d 75 (1998) and In the Matter of Howard
Hornstein, 232 A.D. 2d 134 (1997). In both of these cases, attorneys who failed
to timely file tax returns were given a public censure. In both instances the Court
found that public censure was the appropriate disciplinary action because of




mitigating circumstances. Both opinions are very sparse on details regarding the
types of law in which the attorneys engaged. Specifically, here is no mention that
the attorneys were engaged in the practice of tax law. Here, Respondent-
Appellant has passed the enrolled agents examination and is engaged full time in
a tax practice including tax return preparation and representing taxpayers before
the Internal Revenue Service. In addition, as discussed above, she has not
established any applicable mitigating circumstances. The two cited cases are
distinguishable from Respondent-Appellant’s situation and are not helpful in
determining the appropriate sanction.

Respondent-Appellant also cites two opinions of the United States Tax Court in
which the taxpayers were found not liable for the failure to file addition to tax
asserted by the Commission, Shaffer v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo. 1994-618,
and Meyer v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo. 2003-12. In both of these cases, the
Tax Court found that there was reasonable cause for not timely filing returns
because the taxpayers were severely incapacitated to the point they were unable
to work. In contrast, Respondent-Appellant has continuously engaged in a tax
practice, which includes preparing and filing returns for her clients.

The Administrative Law Judge reduced the requested suspension from 48
months to 36 months because of Respondent-Appellant’s assertion of Diagnosis
1 and personal problems, even though as the Administrative Law Judge found
“there is nothing for the record that would lead me to conclude that she was
unable to file her returns on time.” Since | have found that the case should be
dismissed because the Appeal was untimely, | do not have the authority to
change the suspension determined by the Administrative Law Judge. | find the
failure to timely file income tax returns for five consecutive years to be a very
serious offense. If this case were not being dismissed, | would give serious
consideration to imposing the 48 month suspension requested by the Director of
the Office of Professional Responsibility.

| have considered all arguments made, and, to the extent not mentioned herein, |
find them to be irrelevant or without merit.



Conclusion

Since the Appeal of the decision of the Administrative Law Judge was not timely
filed, the administrative Law Judge’s decision suspending Respondent-Appellant
became FINAL AGENCY ACTION on November 10, 2008. Respondent-
Appellant is suspended for 36 months from November 10, 2008, and the
conditions imposed by the Administrative Law Judge for reinstatement are in
effect.

Ronald D. Pinsky
Appellate Authority

Office of Chief Counsel
Internal Revenue Service
(As authorized delegate of
Timothy F. Geithner,
Secretary of the Treasury)

December 9, 2009
Lanham, MD



OFFICE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
WASHINGTON, D.C.

DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF Complaint No. 2007-28
PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY
Complainant

V.

JUANITA A. GONZALES
Respondent

DECISION GRANTING COMPLAINANT'S
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

On May 22, 2007, the Director of the Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR)
of the Internal Revenue Service filed a Complaint seeing to suspend Respondent, Juanita
A. Gonzales, an enrolled agent, from practice before the IRS for a period of 48 months.

The Complaint alleges that Respondent failed to file her Federal Income Tax
Returns for tax years 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 in atimely fashion. The Director
further aleges that her failure to do so was willful and constitutes “ disreputable conduct”
pursuant to 31 C.F.R. section 10.51(f).

In her Answer filed July 9, 2007, Respondent, by counsel, admits that her Federal
Income Tax returns for the years 2001-2005 were not timely filed and in fact were not
filed until December 19, 2006. Respondent contends that her failure to timely file her
returns were not willful due the fact that she was suffering from Diagnosis 1 and had
many personal difficulties during the period in question. Respondent admits however,
that during this period she continued to operate her tax practice for her clients.

On May 15, 2008, the Director of OPR filed a motion for summary judgment.
The Director took issue with Respondent’ s assertions that she filed returns for tax years
2001 and 2002. On the other hand, IRS' records indicate that Respondent filed her
returns for 2003, 2004 and 2005 earlier in 2006 than she stated in her Answer.
Nevertheless, there is no question that she failed to timely file her returns for tax years
2001-2005.

Ms. Gonzalez has responded to the Director’ s motion by counsel. She attached to
her response a letter from Doctor 1. Doctor 1 indicates that Ms. Gonzalez was a patient
of hisfrom March 2005-May 2006 with afollow-up visit in June 2007. He suggests that
Ms. Gonzalez was [incapable due to] Diagnosis 1 of filing her returns on time, even
though she was otherwise engaged in her tax practice.



| conducted two conference calls with counsel after the filing of the motion for
summary judgment.

On July 25, 2008, | told that parties that with the exception of one “loose end,”
Doctor 1'sletter, | was prepared to grant the Complainant’ s motion and suspend
Respondent from practice before the IRS for three years. | explained that | am “a
creature of the Secretary of Treasury” in that | am bound by the precedent reflected in his
rulings, or those of his designee, in similar cases.

| informed counsel that | was prepared to hold a video conference hearing if Ms.
Gonzaez' counsel wished to present Doctor 1 as awitness, with treatment records, and
subject him to cross-examination. If Respondent wanted such a hearing, | told counsel |
would allow Ms. Gonzalez to testify aswell. | would note however that Ms. Gonzalez's
Federal Tax Returns for tax years 2001, 2002 and 2003 were due to be filed before she
became a patient of Doctor 1.

Following the July 25, conference call, Respondent filed a motion for this judge
to recuse himself, which | denied in an order dated July 30, 2008.

| conducted a follow-up conference call on August 8, 2008. Respondent’s
counsel informed me that his client had told him that she wished to forgo a hearing but as
of that morning, she may have changed her mind. 1 told counsel that | would require him
to notify me in writing within two weeks (by August 22, 2008) as to whether he wanted a
hearing or not, otherwise I would grant the motion for summary judgment. | reiterated
that Doctor 1 must testify from treatment records, that | would not credit an unsupported
opinion. Respondent has not notified me as to whether or not it wants an evidentiary
hearing regarding Ms. Gonzalez' s Diagnosis 1 and its bearing of her failure to timely file
her income tax returns.

The designee of the Secretary of Treasury has held that repeated failure of a
practitioner to file his or her Federal Income Tax returns on time constitutes willfulness
within the meaning of section 10.51(f) and 10.52(a) of Treasury Circular 230 and
therefore constitutes disreputable conduct appropriately sanctioned by a suspension from
practice before the Internal Revenue Service. “Willful” merely means avoluntary,
intentional violation of aknown legal duty, See, e.g., Director, OPRv. Martin M.
Chandler, C.P.A., Complaint No. 2006-23 (Decision on Appeal, May 14, 2008).

Respondent’ s voluminous submissions, including a supplemental answer filed on
August 8, 2008, boil down to several essential contentions. First, she contends that her
conduct was not willful because she was unaware that the IRS considered her failure to
timely file her returnsto be disreputable conduct. That is not the correct legal standard.
An act or omission iswillful if it violates aknown legal duty, i.e., filing one' s taxes on
time, not whether or not one is aware of the consequences of failing to comply with a
known legal duty. An enrolled agent knows that Federal Income Tax Returns must be
filed in atimely fashion. A repeated failure to do so iswillful.



Respondent’ s reliance on Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S. 192 (1991) is
misplaced. Ms. Gonzalez has never contended that she believed that she was not required
to file her taxesin atimely fashion. Whether or not she had a reasonable good faith
belief that her failure to timely file was not “ disreputable conduct” for which she could be
suspended is irrelevant to this matter. Moreover, the Secretary’ s designee has made it
clear that certain requirements in the tax code are so unambiguous as to preclude a
finding that a taxpayer had an honest belief that he or she need not comply withit. The
requirement to file one' sreturns on time is one of those requirements. Director, OPR .
Michael A. Dobkin, Complaint No. 2006-30 (Decision on Appeal, April 15, 2008).

Secondly, Respondent challenges the wisdom of the IRS policy and the authority
of the Secretary of Treasury to suspend an enrolled agent for repeated untimely filings of
his or her tax returns. Neither the wisdom of the policy nor whether the Secretary has the
authority to suspend Respondent is before me.

In the Chandler case, inincreasing the penalty that | had recommended, the
Director cited the Supreme Court’ s decision in United States v. Boyle, 469 U.S. 241
(1985). That decision discussed the necessity of having strict fixed dates for the filing of
tax returns. The Director stated that the time and energy devoted to securing returns of
those practitioners who do not timely file diverts IRS resources from other tasks and
imposes an excessive burden on the system of tax administration.

The Secretary’ s designee has also held that whether or not a practitioner has
timely paid hisor her taxesisirrelevant to a proceeding predicated on afailure to timely
file one sreturns. The designee noted in Dobkin, supra, that “until the Internal Revenue
Servicereceivesreturns. . ., it cannot determine whether Respondent-Appellant has fully
paid his Federal income tax liabilities for the yearsin issue.”

Finally, the Secretary and his designee have held that they have the authority to
suspend Respondent for failing to timely file her Federal income tax returns. | am bound
by the prior decisions of the Secretary in similar cases. Respondent’s recourseisto
challenge the Secretary’ s authority in Federal court.

Thus, | grant the Director’s motion for summary judgment and suspend Juanita
Gonzalez from practice before the IRS for a period of three years (36 months). | have
reduced the requested suspension from 48 to 36 months by taking at face value Ms.
Gonzalez' s assertions regarding the Diagnosis 1 and personal problems she experienced
during the relevant time period. However, thereis nothing in this record that would lead
me to conclude that she was unable to file her returns on time. | would a so note that
every single practitioner whose case | have handled has an excuse for failing to comply
with the unambiguous legal requirement to file one’s Federal income tax returns on time.



Respondent shall not be reinstated at the end of the 36 months unless she has filed
all of her outstanding Federal tax returns and paid any outstanding Federal tax liabilities,
or has entered into an installment agreement or offer of compromise which has been
accepted by the IRS and with which Respondent has remained in compliance.

Arthur J. Amchan
Federal Administrative Law Judge

National Labor Relations Board
1099 14™ St. N.W., Suite 5400
Washington, D.C. 20005-0001

202-501-8588
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Subpart B — Duties and Restrictions Relating to
Practice Before the Internal Revenue Service

§ 10.20 Information to be furnished.

(@) To the Internal Revenue Service.

(1) A practitioner must, on a proper and lawful re-
quest by a duly authorized officer or employee of the
Internal Revenue Service, promptly submit records
or information in any matter before the Internal Rev-

enue Service unless the practitioner believes in good
faith and on reasonable grounds that the records or
information are privileged.

(2) Where the requested records or information
are not in the possession of, or subject to the con-
trol of, the practitioner or the practitioner’s client, the
practitioner must promptly notify the requesting In-
ternal Revenue Service officer or employee and the
practitioner must provide any information that the
practitioner has regarding the identity of any person
who the practitioner believes may have possession
or control of the requested records or information.
The practitioner must make reasonable inquiry of
his or her client regarding the identity of any per-
son who may have possession or control of the re-
quested records or information, but the practitioner
is not required to make inquiry of any other person
or independently verify any information provided by
the practitioner’s client regarding the identity of such
persons.

(b) To the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility. When a proper and lawful request is
made by the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility, a practitioner must provide the Direc-
tor of the Office of Professional Responsibility with
any information the practitioner has concerning an
inquiry by the Director of the Office of Professional
Responsibility into an alleged violation of the regula-
tions in this part by any person, and to testify regard-
ing this information in any proceeding instituted un-
der this part, unless the practitioner believes in good
faith and on reasonable grounds that the information
IS privileged.

(c) Interference with a proper and lawful request
for records or information. A practitioner may not
interfere, or attempt to interfere, with any proper and
lawful effort by the Internal Revenue Service, its of-
ficers or employees, or the Director of the Office of
Professional Responsibility, or his or her employ-
ees, to obtain any record or information unless the
practitioner believes in good faith and on reasonable
grounds that the record or information is privileged.
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J.D., Georgetown University
Law Center, 2002
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Bar and Court Admissions
District of Columbia
Virginia
U.S. Court of Appeals for
the Fourth Circuit
U.S. District Court for the
District of Columbia
U.S. Court of Federal Claims
U.S. Tax Court
United States District Court
for the Eastern District of
Virginia
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Affiliations
American Bar Association,
Criminal Justice Section
Section of Litigation
Section of Taxation

Government Experience
U.S. Department of Justice,
Tax Division. Attorney
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(2003-2007)
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Caplin&Drysdale

(202) 862-7852
mh@capdale.com

Matthew C. Hicks
Associate, Washington, D.C.

Matthew C. Hicks is an associate in Caplin & Drysdale’s Washington, D.C. office.
He joined the firm in 2007.

Services
Mzr. Hicks advises and defends clients in a wide variety of federal tax disputes
throughout the nation, including:
= Complex civil tax shelter proceedings involving summons enforcement
actions, injunctions, refund actions, and potential criminal prosecutions
®  Voluntary disclosures, including disclosures of undeclared foreign bank
and financial accounts
=  Civil and criminal failures to pay over employment taxes to the IRS
® Disciplinary actions with the IRS Office of Professional Responsibility
= ]RS challenges to conservation easements

Highlights

Before joining Caplin & Drysdale, Mr. Hicks was a Trial Attorney for the U.S.
Department of Justice, Tax Division. While there, he litigated refund suits,
summons enforcement actions, and TEFRA partnership issues in federal district
courts and the Court of Federal Claims. In addition, Mr. Hicks was the lead
attorney in a federal multidistrict refund action, and he served as one of the Tax
Division’s resident authorities on the discovery of electronically stored information.

Mzr. Hicks is also known for his work on Jade Trading v. United States, 80 Fed. CI.
11 (2007), a Son of BOSS tax shelter case that resulted in a three-week bench trial,
a win for his client, and the perjury conviction of a witness questioned by Mr.

Hicks.

Professional Activities
M. Hicks speaks before many professional associations and conferences. His
recent engagements include:

= Moderator, Representing Practitioners in Ethics and Disciplinary Actions,
American Bar Association, Section of Taxation, Standards of Tax Practice
Committee, Midyear Meeting, San Antonio, January 2010

= Panelist, Atypical Statutes of Limitations Issues, American Bar
Association, Section of Taxation, Court Procedure & Practice Committee,
Joint Fall CLE Meeting, Chicago, September 2009

= Panelist, E-Discovery & Other Discovery Issues, United States Tax Court
Judicial Conference, Galloway, NJ, April 2009

= Chair, E-Discovery in the U.S. Tax Court, Federal Bar Association, 33rd
Annual Tax Law Conference, Washington, D.C., March 2009

»  Panelist, 7ax Shelter Prosecution Update, American Bar Association,
Section of Taxation, Civil and Criminal Tax



Penalties Committee, 2009 Midyear Meeting, New Orleans, January 2009

Moderator, E-Discovery: Meeting e-Xpectations and Managing e-Xpenses,
American Bar Association, Section of Taxation, Court Procedure

& Practice Committee, Joint Fall CLE Meeting, San Francisco, September
2008

Awards and Honors

Recognized by the Tax Division of the U.S. Department of Justice with
Special Act or Service Awards in 2005 and 2007

Honored by the Internal Revenue Service with the Mitchell Rogovin
National Qutstanding Support to the Office of Chief Counsel Award in
2007





